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DAY 3 – 30 JUNE 2015

[11.30 am]

JUDGE HASSAN:   First of all, thank you everyone for cooperating with the5
process and for those planners and others who participated in the
caucusing.  Commissioner Sutherland has reported on that and we have
received different reports and one thing in particular that is helpful
from our point of view is when the facilitator records his
acknowledgement as to how constructive the process was and that is10
not to say we are assuming you have solved all the problems, that is not
fair, but it certainly does help us to find processes like this work in the
way they should.

Now, just  to clarify where we are with that,  Ms Viskovic,  I  wonder if15
we  could  just  quickly  cover  that  off  first.   So  I  understand  now  the
position on the Radio New Zealand activity standard has been clarified
with a report that has come in on that quite recently, I have just read
that  in  the  last  10  minutes  or  so.   Mr  Long  and  Mr  Fowles (ph 1.01)
has signed something there.20

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes.

JUDGE HASSAN:    We have  got  a  report  which  we are  going  to  be  dealing
with the topics on shortly in regard to quarrying which sets out the25
different positions that have been reached there and no doubt we will
test  those  soon.   Are  we  receiving  additional  statements  in  regard  to
Orion and Transpower, is that coming through as a separate item?

MS  VISKOVIC:    That  is  coming  through  as  a  separate  item  as  well,  yes,  I30
understand that there may be in order of approximately seven
caucusing statements that will come through.

JUDGE  HASSAN:    Yes,  I  had  about  seven  in  my  list.   So  Orion  and
Transpower, North Halswell and South Masham is another one coming35
in separately, LPC another one and then the overall one.

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes, that is correct.

JUDGE HASSAN:    Okay,  all  right.   And the  timetable  for  that  is  5  o’clock40
today, is it?

MS VISKOVIC:   5.00 pm today, yes.

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is on track?45
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MS VISKOVIC:   Yes,  I  understand that it  is,  that  all  of those statements are
currently being circulated.

JUDGE  HASSAN:    Yes,  okay,  all  right,  well  that  is  good.   We  will  keep
things as they are at  the moment in terms of the timetable for closing5
submissions, we will make a call once we have heard closing
submissions as to whether we leave the hearing open in case we want
to seek any further assistance from the parties as we go through things
or not so we will know, I guess the position on that when we hear from
parties tomorrow and (INDISTINCT 2.16) what  comes  out  of  all  of10
those statements which we will all have a look at overnight.

So  if  parties  could  remember  that  we  have  scheduled  closings  on  the
basis of an assumption that closings will take account as much as they
can  of  what  has  come  out  of  those  statements  where  it  is  relevant  to15
your clients’ interests.  Is there anything else before we get underway?
All right, Ms Limmer I think it is yours.

MS LIMMER:   Thank you.  Just in respect of closings, sir, I have just received
as you will have this morning, the caucusing statement from the20
witnesses in respect of the quarry policy.  I will try to take account of
that as much as I can as I (INDISTINCT 2.56) this morning.  I have
not, at this stage, requested leave to appear in front of you tomorrow
but closing on the basis that I would be able to address the matters of
concern but perhaps if I get to the end of my submissions and if there25
are questions still unanswered I can come back tomorrow and address
those.

JUDGE  HASSAN:    All  right,  well  we  have  received  and  have  read  your
submissions and there may be one or two questions from that and if30
you feel as though you need any time to test with your witness anything
before you put questions to them in regard of the caucusing statement
just let me know and we can arrange for that.

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  The other matter perhaps before I begin, after35
the  evidence  last  week  I  asked  Mr  Bligh  to  prepare  for  me  a  plan
showing the greenfield priority area, the high quality gravel overlay
proposed in stage 2 and the existing quarries including those referred to
in Mr Willis’ evidence to help me understand where everything was
and on seeing that planner I suspect it may help you as well.40

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think it would probably help the Panel, I have been
wondering about the same thing.



Page 304

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15

MS LIMMER:   Yes, I have provided it to Ms Viskovic last week and I
understand the Council is content with it being admitted by consent.
Do you want Mr Bligh to formally produce it as an exhibit?

[11.35 am]5

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I think we should probably produce it as an exhibit.
We will do that when Mr Bligh comes forward but just note that it will
be exhibit 5.  I just want to check on something here – Ms Dawson?

10
MS DAWSON:   Could it be Mr Willis?  I was going to ask Mr Willis about

(INDISTINCT 0.32) so maybe - - -

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is there any objection to him coming in?
15

MS LIMMER:   No, sir.

MS VISKOVIC:   No, sir.

JUDGE  HASSAN:    We  will  have  it  in  by  consent  now  on  the  basis  that  –20
exhibit 5, exhibit to Mr Bligh, but we will have it in by consent now.

EXHIBIT #5 – HIGH QUALITY GRAVEL RESOURCES,
GREENFIELD AREAS AND EXISTING QUARRY SITES

25
MS LIMMER:   Thank you.

JUDGE HASSAN:   So briefly, the quarrying overlay is the large red hatched
area.

30
MS LIMMER:  The red outline is the outline of the overlay, the orangey sites

are the existing quarry sites, some of them are within the quarry zone,
some of them are outside it, and the blue and green bits are the
greenfield priority areas, some of them are business and some of them
are residential.35

JUDGE HASSAN:   All  right,  and there is  one particular quarry mentioned I
think in Mr Willis’ evidence and perhaps he can identify that for us.

MS LIMMER:   Certainly, sir.40

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.

MS LIMMER:   May it please the Panel, Fulton Hogan made a relatively brief
submission on stage one, there were effectively three items of relief –45
two  of  those  have  been  deferred  to  stage  two  because  they  related  to
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greyed out areas around Roberts Road and the third item is the one
before you in respect of a policy in the chapter 8.

What Fulton Hogan seeks to achieve from its relief is greater certainty
as  to  the  fate  of  any  proposal  namely  that  in  principle  the  concept  is5
acceptable provided adverse effects and the timing of extraction are
appropriate.  It cannot obtain complete certainty or even a high degree
of certainty, non-complying or fully discretionary activity status
precludes that.

10
Fulton Hogan does not expect that all or even most greenfield priority
areas will be suitable for quarrying, however, where it is suitable it
seeks to avoid the prospect of protracted argument on a consent
application being made about whether or not the plan allows in
principle applications for quarrying to be granted within greenfield15
propriety areas as part of a subdivision process and that is even if the
effects can be managed and the timing can be managed.

This would, in my submission, defeat the approach required in these
areas which is due haste.  That this is an issue upon which opinions can20
differ is evidenced by the decision on Fulton Hogan’s Roberts Road
quarry which has been granted and the evidence before you at this
hearing.

The greenfield priority areas are largely located on the periphery of the25
existing urban area, they are a mix of business and residential as with
the Roberts Road quarry it is quite conceivable that a quarrying
proposal will straddle the rural zone in which it is anticipated and a
greenfield priority area.  Rather than sacrificing valuable aggregate
resource through uncertainty and lack of planning clarity, Fulton Hogan30
seeks the plan provide direction as to when such a proposal would be
countenanced. It is submitted Fulton Hogan’s desire for certainty and
clarity as supported by strategic objectives 3.31 and 3.32.

The reasons for Fulton’s Hogan’s requests are transparent; beneath35
west in Christchurch it lies a high quality gravel resource.  Upon
further investigation it has become apparent the notified overlay, and
this is the matter I was discussing with you just now, effectively runs
along the urban boundary but not entirely.  In any event, the resource
itself does not conveniently stop at the urban boundary.40

Once used for urban development, the aggregate resource is lost or
sterilised, however, once used for aggregate extraction the land can still
be used for urban development.

45
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[11.40 am]

Fulton Hogan has gained consent to extract aggregate from a greenfield
priority area in recent times, and expect similar opportunities to present
as greenfield priority areas are progressively developed through to5
2028.  The demand for gravel is high and is expected to remain so for
the foreseeable future, and Mr Willis will address you on that.

Quarries with consented lives of seven years are being worked out in
three years.  Distance from demand has a significant impact on the10
cost-effective supply of gravel. There is only a limited amount of good
gravel close to demand; once it is gone, it is gone, either by way of
extraction or urban development.

The greenfield priority areas sit on the periphery of Christchurch, and15
as such are ideally located in terms of distance.   They also adjoin the
rural land where, under the stage 2 proposals, quarrying is anticipated
to locate.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Now, Ms Limmer, just in terms of the next set of your20
argument - - -

MS LIMMER:  Yes?

JUDGE HASSAN:  - - - I understand that the conferencing document has25
clarified that as between the witnesses there is now an acceptance that
the policy raised doesn’t actually proscribe activities within the urban
limits, to urban activities?

MS LIMMER:  Yes, sir.30

JUDGE HASSAN:  It more to the point, directs urban activities into those
locations, which is consistent with the theory you are presenting there?

MS LIMMER:  Yes, sir.35

JUDGE HASSAN:  So perhaps you could speak to that, if you need to, but - - -

MS LIMMER:  No, no, you are quite right, sir.  The next couple of pages were
arguments around the interpretation of that policy, and in my40
submission the view that the planners’ have reached on that, is the
interpretation that legally I was going to advance as correct.

There is still a remaining issue though, sir, in terms of a point of
difference about whether because the RPS defines quarrying as a rural45
activity, it is not appropriate to have a policy providing for it within the
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greenfield priority areas, and in my submission, sir, this is materially
the same argument that was raised in respect of objective 3.3.7.
Therefore, my legal arguments around the interpretation of that
definition and what it means, whether or not you can have a policy
about a rural activity in an urban area, my arguments effectively remain5
the same.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay.

MS LIMMER:   That  the  RPS just  by  defining  it  as  rural,  does  not  mean that10
you cannot have, particularly an interim rural activity, in those areas.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.

MS  LIMMER:   Perhaps,  sir,  if  I  can  take  the  Panel  to  paragraph  17  of  my15
submission?

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes.

MS LIMMER:  With regard to your duty under section 32AA, it is submitted20
the cost of Fulton Hogan’s preferred policy are low, whereas the
potential benefits are high.  The policy does not alter the activity status
of quarrying, therefore full discretion remains to decline consent or
impose conditions as to effects, lapsing periods, expiry dates, and
rehabilitation requirements.25

Mr Long suggested in his evidence, it is a cost the plan would be more
enabling  with  the  proposed  policy,  than  without  it.   It  is  accepted  the
proposed policy may result in granted proposals that might otherwise
be declined, on the basis quarrying activities are not expected to occur30
in these areas.  However, in my submission, there are far more benefits
associated with this outcome than costs.  I submit that the potential cost
will low if there is wording which mandates appropriate management
of effects and prioritises attainment of objective 3.3.4.

35
In addition, any activity within these areas is likely to be small scale,
and I have referred previously in my submissions to the evidence on
that, and by necessity, short-lived.

Conversely, I submit the potential benefits are high and the aggregate40
could be sourced close to urban demand if one piece of land may
deliver on two strategic objectives; urban development and aggregate
extraction.
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As outlined in the evidence, quarrying can occur in tandem with
outlined development planning, so that infrastructure can be
incorporated into remediation works.

[11.45 am]5

Part  2  of  the  Act  is  of  course  relevant  to  your  decision  on  the  relief
sought, and in my submission, Fulton Hogan’s request brings several
section 7 matters to the fore, including in particular; the efficient use
and development of natural and physical resources, the making - - -10

JUDGE HASSAN:  I think you can take that as read.

MS LIMMER:  Thank you, sir.  It is submitted that, at paragraph 21, in the
right circumstances, allowing extraction of aggregate from these areas15
provides opportunity for maximum benefit to be realised from the land
resource.  It also provides means of reducing the cost of urban
development to society through sterilisation or loss of good quality
aggregate close to demand.

20
The maintenance and enhancement of amenity values can be addressed
through conditions and the shorted lived nature of such proposals.
Fulton Hogan’s revised wording conveys the intention that such
activities are only appropriate where the effects can be appropriately
managed.25

Therefore,  sir,  following  a  consideration  of  the  evidence  and  also
Mr Bligh’s (ph 1.08) participation in conferencing, the preferred
wording of Fulton Hogan’s relief is set out at the end of my
submission.  I would just note, that wording does of course differ in30
detail from the submission itself in the plan, but in my submission the
substance of the request remains the same.

JUDGE HASSAN:  It also differs, doesn’t it, from Mr Bligh’s own
recommendation for amendment to what was put up in the submission?35

MS LIMMER:  Yes, it does.

JUDGE HASSAN:  As expressed in his evidence?
40

MS LIMMER:  Yes, it does, sir, and that of course - - -

JUDGE HASSAN:  That will be covered shortly?

MS LIMMER:  - - - you will be able to ask him about that, yes.45
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JUDGE HASSAN:  All  right,  yes,  and I  noticed, just  in terms of some of the
key elements of that difference, just to provide clarity for us here.  So if
we go to (b) on your page 8?

MS LIMMER:  Yes, sir.5

JUDGE HASSAN:  That concept of being in conjunction with subdivision is
new, isn’t it?

MS  LIMMER:   It  is  new  in  the  sense  of  the  expressed  words,  but  it  was10
implicit anyway, because the request was to put this in the subdivision
policies  of  the  plan.   So  in  terms  of  actually  saying  that,  it  has  made
explicit what in my submission was implicit in the request anyway.

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, and in addition to that substantively the policy’s15
become much more focused on the nature of the activity itself, in terms
of  its  management  of,  as  to  how  it’s  designed  in  terms  of  effects,
timeframe?

MS LIMMER:  Yes.20

JUDGE  HASSAN:   And  the  concept  of  “timeframe”  there,  that  is  also  new,
isn’t it, in terms of referring to that within the explicit wording of the
policy?

25
MS LIMMER:  Yes, sir, that is right.

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  Okay, well I will check if there is any questions
on those submission before you call your first witness.

30
MS DAWSON:  Just one question, please, Ms Limmer – and I will ask Mr

Bligh about this – but, in legal terms, what do you mean by “in
conjunction with subdivision”, in this policy?  I mean, what do you
think that actually means?

35
MS LIMMER:  Yes, ma’am, well I can advise you that the intention of those

words as I understand them, is to convey that when you put forward a
subdivision proposal the quarrying activity would be part of that.  So it
would be part and parcel of a subdivision rather than just an application
for quarrying.40

MS DAWSON:  Yes, so it is intending, in a policy sense, to link what is
essentially a land use activity to subdivision activity?

MS LIMMER:  Quite right, yes.45
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MS DAWSON:  And by putting it in this chapter, and by explicitly writing
those words into that policy?

MS LIMMER:  Yes, yes.  And the differences are – perhaps I should just, for
completeness, note that there is a submission in on stage 2 of the plan,5
seeking that there be some recognition or provision for quarrying in the
different zones in the greenfield priority areas.

MS DAWSON:  Okay.
10

MS LIMMER:  So this policy is linked just to the subdivision process.

MS  DAWSON:    All  right.   So  although  some  of  the  new  neighbourhood
zones, which say in residential terms that what they would be - - -

15
MS LIMMER:  Yes.

MS DAWSON:  - - - are before us at the moment, stage 2 brings more of those
zones into the process, and Fulton Hogan has submissions specifically
on the relevant zones?20

MS LIMMER:  Well, a related entity; The Aggregate Producers Group.

MS DAWSON:  Oh right, yes.
25

MS LIMMER:  Yes, ma’am, and they just, as a result of seeing what stage 2
did with quarrying as a whole, yes.

MS DAWSON:  Yes, all right, thank you very much.  Thank you.
30

JUDGE HASSAN:  Okay, Mr Udale?

MR UDALE:  Just really picking up on Ms Dawson’s question; I suppose until
the  answer  just  now,  I  would  assume  this  would  come  forward  as  a
quarrying proposal.  And what you are saying is actually is to come35
forward as a subdivision proposal, of which quarrying would be a part?

MS LIMMER:  Yes.

MR  UDALE:   Sorry,  and  therefore  the  rehabilitation  and  timeframes,  and  all40
that would be part of a subdivision application, rather than it being a
quarrying application with some indicative subdivision attached to it?
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[11.50 am]

MS LIMMER:   Yes, that is my understanding of the intention and Mr Bligh
will be able to assist you further on that.

5
MR UDALE:   Thank you. That’s clear.

JUDGE  HASSAN:    All  right,  thank  you  Ms  Limmer,  if  you  could  call  your
first witness

10
MS LIMMER:   Certainly, sir, I call Mr Willis.
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<ROBERT BRUCE WILLIS, affirmed [11.50 am]



Page 313

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15

<EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [11.50 am]

MS  LIMMER:    Can  you  please  confirm  your  full  name  is  Robert  Bruce
Willis?

5
MR WILLIS:   That is correct.

MS LIMMER:    And you are  the  regional  environmental  manager  for  Fulton
Hogan Limited in the central South Island area?

10
MR WILLIS:   That is correct, yes.

MS LIMMER:   Can you confirm you have previously prepared evidence in
this matter on 8 June 2015?

15
MR WILLIS:   Yes, that is correct.

MS  LIMMER:    Do  you  have  any  corrections  you  wish  to  make  to  that
evidence?

20
MR WILLIS:   Yes,  I  would like to make some corrections please.   So I  will

begin with paragraph 21 of my evidence and at paragraph 21 I would
like to replace the word “solely” in the first line with the word
“principally”.  I have turned also to paragraph 22 and in the third line I
refer  to  facilities  maintenance,  I  would  just  like  to  clarify  that  the25
facilities maintenance contract that I refer to there will be completed in
June this year.

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you want to add a sentence, “the facilities maintenance
contract will be completed in June this year.”30

MR WILLIS:   Yes, I was really just pointing out that I have referred there to
the asset management services that we provide and the example that I
have provided there in relation to the New Zealand defence force
specifically, yes, it concludes in the end of June.35

MS DAWSON:   So it is just the defence force, so that should say until June.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, all right, thank you.
40

MR WILLIS:   At paragraphs 38 and 39 I would just like to clarify what I
intended to express in both paragraphs by adding the following words.

JUDGE HASSAN:   To which paragraph?
45

MR WILLIS:   Paragraphs 38 and 39.
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but adding words to paragraph 38 first?

MR WILLIS:   Paragraph 38, so I will read from the beginning of the sentence
– it is an awfully long one.  I will read from the beginning and add at5
the  end  of  that  paragraph.   So  it  says,  “The  existence  of  high  quality
land based aggregates is almost ubiquitous across the western
Christchurch area.  I understand that the Council’s recently notified
stage two proposals include appendix 17.9.1 – High quality gravel
resources  overlay,  which  identifies  the  geographical  extent  of  this10
aggregate resource,” and this is where I would add “outside land zoned
for urban activity under the Replacement Plan.”

And  a  further  sentence  to  say,  “The  full  extent  of  this  resource
comprises a much larger area and is shown in figure 1 of Mr English’s15
evidence on the Strategic Directions proposal at page 13.”  I am sorry,
that is quite a bit to add.

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is all right, we’ve got it.
20

MR  WILLIS:    And  on  paragraph  39  I  will  read  what  I  have  written,  “I
understand from the plan appended to Mr Bligh’s evidence that this
area,” so correct these, “that this area”, and add “containing high
quality land based aggregates”, and that is the piece I would like to add
in there please and that goes on to say “including sites that are marked25
for greenfield development under the RPS and Replacement Plan.”

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just pause for a minute.  Thank you.

[11.55 am]30

MR WILLIS:   At paragraph 40 I have noted that existing quarries have been
established on greenfield sites and I would just like to clarify that I
used that term in the broader generic sense as opposed to the use of the
term  “in  relation  to  the  greenfield  priority  areas”  just  to  avoid  any35
confusion around my use of the term greenfield sites so we will just
add in brackets, in the broader sense.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, after greenfield sites, all right.
40

MR WILLIS:   At paragraph 48 I refer to my experience of pre-development
quarrying, I would just like to correct this statement by noting that in
my experience the principle of pre-development quarrying is
practicable and I would note that Mr Bligh has direct experience of
this.45
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So we add a sentence, “Mr Bligh has direct experience of
this”?

MR WILLIS:   Yes, I have just pointed that out, sir.
5

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. That is fine.

MR WILLIS:   And finally at paragraph 57, in the fifth line of my evidence in
paragraph 57 where I talk about the Roberts Road quarry, I say it is 20
hectares, I just wish to correct that the site is in fact 39.47 hectares in10
size of which 19.5 hectares is consented for quarrying.

JUDGE HASSAN:   So perhaps what you are saying is in the brackets you just
want to say “such as the Roberts Road quarry”,  take out the reference
to the hectares.15

MR WILLIS:   Yes, I think that would be - - -

JUDGE HASSAN:   And then after the sentence ending eight years you want
to say, “The Roberts Road quarry is 39.47 hectares in size of which20
19.5 hectares is consented for quarrying.”

MR WILLIS:   That would certainly clarify that, sir.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.25

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, Mr Willis. With those corrections can you confirm
your evidence is true and correct to the best of your knowledge?

MR WILLIS:   Yes, yes it is to the best of my knowledge, yes.30

MS LIMMER:   And I understand you have prepared a brief summary of your
evidence?

MR WILLIS:   Yes.35

MS LIMMER:    Could  you  please  take  the  Panel  through that  and  remain  to
answer any questions from my friends.

MR WILLIS:   I would be happy to, thank you.  So in summary I would say40
traditional fluvial aggregate supplies are in decline and this presents a
conundrum for both those wishing to seek quarries banished to remote
rural areas and those wishing to see the recovery occur in a timely and
fiscally prudent manner.

45
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That there is an increasing demand for aggregates and associated
products and services; concrete, clean filling and the like, is not in
question.   A key  and  fundamental  determinant  of  the  cost  and  rate  of
recovery will turn on the availability and cost of aggregates.  Alongside
availability, proximity to demand is ultimately the critical factor in both5
the viability of the quarry and the wider cost of aggregates to the
community and that is of course because those costs are passed onto the
end user.

The existence of high quality land based aggregates is almost10
ubiquitous across the western Christchurch area.  I understand that
within this area there are sites earmarked for the Greenfields priority
development.  Many of the existing quarries in the greater Christchurch
area have been established on rural greenfield sites for economic
reasons and it is not viable to retrospectively quarry areas once built15
development has been established on a site.

The converse, however, does not hold.  Following quarrying,
remediated sites are returned to the land bank for use in a variety of
forms including urban development.  Examples of this include the20
Fulton Hogan Christchurch regional office at Hornby which was
previously the British Pavements quarry and the mixed commercial
residential area on the former Ashby’s pit in the Roydvale
Avenue/Wairakei Road area at Burnside.

25
Put simply, quarrying can be a viable precursor to subsequent built
development but once development exists that option is eliminated.

[12.00 pm]
30

Given the high current and forecast demand for aggregates and
associated clean filling to support the rebuild, Fulton Hogan seeks the
opportunity to obtain aggregates from greenfield areas that are
programmed for urban expansion. I’d highlight that Fulton Hogan
accepts that pre-development quarrying may not be appropriate or35
viable in all circumstances.

Where aggregate extraction maybe appropriate ahead of urban
development, it can occur followed by immediate remediation over a
short, discrete timeframe. Such activity may also occur in tandem with40
Outline Development Planning so that infrastructure, such as roading
layout, underground services, storm water treatment areas and such
like, can be incorporated into the remediation works.

This may be staged across the site with land released for urban45
redevelopment as each block is completed, and in many respects if
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managed appropriately, such activities should be largely
indistinguishable from rebuild activities occurring across greater
Christchurch.

From an industry perspective, most quarries within greenfield priority5
areas  would  be  of  a  small  scale  and  as  such  would  involve  extraction
only, with any processing occurring offsite and in an existing facility.

It’s my experience that Greenfields development for urban purposes
also requires substantial earthmoving and associated disturbance too,10
for example form roads, install infrastructure and create building
platforms and such like. And on this basis and where appropriate
circumstances and mitigation exists, it’s entirely feasible that small
quarries can be established and rehabilitated in relatively close
proximity to residential or business uses.15

There is no practical reason why quarrying and subsequent
development could not readily be achieved to ensure the provision of
housing within Christchurch is not compromised. Current demand for
aggregates for recovery activities is such that small quarries have an20
expected life of less than eight years.

For example Fulton Hogan’s Roberts Road Quarry comprising, as I’ve
just explained, 39 and a half hectares of which nearly 20 hectares is
earmarked for quarrying, has a consented life of eight years but on the25
basis of current forecast for aggregate demand, will be empty within six
years. Butters Road Quarry has a consented life of seven years but will
be exhausted within three years from commencement of quarrying.

The quarry industry has no reason to believe that this demand will30
abate in the foreseeable future. Thank you.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Viskovic.

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [12.02 pm]35

MS VISKOVIC:   Good morning, Mr Willis.

MR WILLIS:   Good morning.
40

MS VISKOVIC:   Now in your opening statement and in your corrections
you’ve noted that the existence of high quality land based aggregates is
almost ubiquitous across western Christchurch?

MR WILLIS:   Yes.45
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MS VISKOVIC:   And that includes the land within the high quality gravel
resource overlay and I also understand from your correction you made
this morning, to a much broader area beyond that overlay?

MR WILLIS:   Yes, yes indeed.5

MS VISKOVIC:   You also referred in your brief opening comments about
quarries potentially being located in remote rural areas, and I just note
that the area that’s shown in the high quality gravel resource overlay,
which is the red line on Exhibit 5 - - -10

MR WILLIS:   Yes.

MS  VISKOVIC:    -  -  -  much  of  that  would  be  within  five  kilometres  of
Christchurch - - -15

MR WILLIS:   Yes.

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - the urban boundary of Christchurch.
20

MR WILLIS:   Yes indeed.

MS  VISKOVIC:    Now  within  that  area,  I  understand  that  there  are  two
identified priority greenfield areas and they are shown on the map here
- - -25

SJH:   Ms Viskovic, I just want to pause for a minute there, because I think the
last answer was going to be completed, did you want to complete your
last answer or did you complete it – I thought I heard you say “but”?

30
MR  WILLIS:    Yes,  yes,  thank  you,  sir.  My  reference  to  “remote”  in  my

summary  was  to  suggest  that  in  fact  there  appears  to  be  a  wish  that
quarries would move themselves much further from the urban
boundary, some considerable distance further out than we currently
exist.35

MS VISKOVIC:   Although the Council has identified this - - -

MR WILLIS:   Indeed, yes indeed.
40

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - this overlay which is relatively close to Christchurch.

MR WILLIS:   Yes, that’s correct, yes.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, Ms Viskovic.45
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MS VISKOVIC:   Thank you, sorry, sir.

Now within that area of high quality gravel, the overlay, I understand
that there are predominantly two rural greenfield – sorry, two
greenfield residential priority areas?5

[12.05 pm]

MR WILLIS:   I think you’ll find one is business and one residential.
10

MS VISKOVIC:   My understanding is that there’s the one to the north - - -

MR WILLIS:   Yes.

MS  VISKOVIC:    -  -  -  which  is  the  northwest  Belfast  and  then  I  also15
understand there’s one which is in the south, the south Masham and
there might be a slight overlap right down the bottom where an existing
quarry is shown right on the – just beneath the label Christchurch?

MR WILLIS:   Yes.20

MS  VISKOVIC:    Yes,  and  that  one  is  the  location  of  the  Roberts  Road
Quarry.

MR WILLIS:   Yes, sorry, yes it’s not shown on the map because it’s coloured25
brown, yes indeed, yes.

MS VISKOVIC:   Yes. And in relation to the – are you familiar with the
northwest Belfast area at all?

30
MR WILLIS:   Not overly familiar.

MS VISKOVIC:   Are you aware that there is a resource consent for dwellings
to be located within that area?

35
MR WILLIS:   No.

MS VISKOVIC:   So I think you also referred this morning to the Roberts
Road quarry being approximately – the quarry itself is 19.5 hectares
and that overlaps with the south Masham greenfield development area40
by about 1.3 hectares, is that correct?

MR WILLIS:   I couldn’t tell you how much it overlaps but a part of the quarry
certainly does, yes.

45
MS VISKOVIC:   It’s quite a smallish proportion of - - -
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MR WILLIS:   Yes.

MS VISKOVIC:   - - - of the quarry. And the balance of the priority greenfield
area sits outside the high quality resources overlay?5

MR WILLIS:   I’m sorry, the balance of?

MS VISKOVIC:   The balance of the greenfield area does.
10

MR WILLIS:   Yes indeed, yes that’s correct, yes.

MS VISKOVIC:   And that’s shown on the map, yes.

MR WILLIS:   Yes.15

MS VISKOVIC:   You would agree that quarries have the potential to generate
quite a number of effects on surrounding land uses?

MR WILLIS:   Yes indeed.20

MS VISKOVIC:   And those can be noise, dust, traffic, amenity, landscaping,
that kind of thing?

MR WILLIS:   Yes.25

MS VISKOVIC:   Where quarries are located near urban areas rather than in
rural  environments,  the  scale  of  the  effects  is  potentially  larger  as  the
receiving environment would be more sensitive to those effects?

30
MR WILLIS:   Yes, that’s correct, yes.

MS  VISKOVIC:    And  that  could  result  in  more  onerous  conditions  on  a
resource consent for a quarry located near an urban area?

35
MR  WILLIS:    Yes,  and  it  generally  would,  such  as  hours  of  activity  and

vehicle movements and such like, yes.

MS VISKOVIC:   Those conditions would impose additional costs on the
quarrying activity?40

MR WILLIS:   Indeed yes, that’s correct.

MS VISKOVIC:   And where those quarries are proposed it’s more likely to be
a contentious process for the quarry to obtain a resource consent where45
it’s located close to an urban area?
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MR  WILLIS:    As  it  stands  it  does  seem  that,  yes,  it  is  scrutinised  far  more
closely, yes.

MS VISKOVIC:   That could add time to the consenting process?5

MR WILLIS:   Indeed it could, yes.

MS VISKOVIC:   For example, it’s potentially more likely that the application
might be subject to appeals?10

MR  WILLIS:    Indeed,  and  in  fact,  there  are  many  as  I  allude  to  in  my
evidence, there are many matters that actually at the end of the day
determine whether land is even a viable proposition for a quarry, and
that extends to areas even outside these greenfield priority areas.15

Rural areas are subject to the same degree of due diligence around
proximity to neighbours, depths to groundwater, extent of the site in
terms  of  investment  versus  return  on  investment,  all  of  those  sorts  of
things we endeavour to anticipate the scale and nature of consideration20
of consents, what that may do in terms of timeframe and scale and cost,
mitigation measures and the cost of those measures, all of those things
are  factored  into  decisions  about  whether  to  proceed  with  looking  to
either buy or lease or make some arrangement to get access to land for
quarrying, yes.25

MS VISKOVIC:   In a number of places in your evidence you note that short
term quarrying is possible and in relation to the Roberts Road Quarry
you state that that has a forecast life of eight years and you’ve noted
that that’s a short timeframe.30

MR WILLIS:   Yes, its consented life of eight years, we anticipate it will have
been  worked  out  before  those  eight  years  is  up  –  six  years  is  our
forecast at this stage.

35
MS VISKOVIC:   And that forecasted life though that doesn’t take into

account the time that it would take to obtain a resource consent, it’s
after the resource consent is granted, isn’t it?

MR WILLIS:   Yes indeed, yes.40

MS VISKOVIC: (INDISTINCT 4.48).

MR WILLIS:   Consent I think was obtained for that within six or seven
months perhaps, in that sort of nature I understand.45
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MS VISKOVIC:   Sure. Now am I correct in understanding that in relation to
the  Roberts  Road Quarry,  while  it  will  be  remediated  over  the  life  of
the quarry – which I think you note in your evidence – currently that
doesn’t include a back-filling operation?

5
[12.10 pm]

MR WILLIS:  In fact the consent precludes clean-filling.  When you say back-
filling;  yes  the  consent  requires  us  to  fill  and  batter  off  the  cut  faces,
but using existing material from the site.  The consent precludes clean10
filling, at this stage.  It may be something, if the Council was of a mind
to want it, to be brought up to the pre-existing ground level, but the
Council could seek that we used clean fill to bring the site back up to
that level.

15
But at this stage it would appear Christchurch City Council has a –
despite the fact that clean-filling is reasonably well managed by
Ministry for the Environment requirements and suchlike – seems to
concern itself with the effects on, or potential effects, on groundwater,
and so doesn’t appear to favour clean-filling to remediate these sites.20

MS VISKOVIC:  Often a clean-filling, or back-filling, operation is required to
remediate sites before they are used for residential development, would
that be correct?

25
MR WILLIS:  Well, no.  In this case the remediation of the site is simply the

distribution  of  the  topsoil  that  was  stripped  and  has  been  used  for  the
bunds.  So they will be pushed over, the site will be levelled, and it
would effectively form a shallow basin once it has been remediated.

30
MS VISKOVIC:  In some circumstance though back-filling or clean-filling

would be required, prior to residential development occurring?

MR WILLIS:  Indeed, yes, that is correct.  Yes, dead right.
35

MS VISKOVIC:  And clean-filling operations can have similar effects to
quarrying, can’t they, in terms of noise generation, traffic - - -

MR WILLIS:  Yes, certainly.
40

MS VISKOVIC:  - - - dust, that kind of thing?

MR WILLIS:  Yes.
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MS VISKOVIC:  And that clean-filling – if a clean-filling operation is
required, that would add additional time to, I suppose, the life of the
site as a quarry and the remediation of that quarry?

MR WILLIS:  Yes, it would, but the thing is that we are talking actually in5
terms,  with  Fulton  Hogan’s  submission  on  this  policy,  we  are  talking
about quite small sites.  Our threshold, probably for viability, would be
minimum site size of four hectares, but we would be obviously be
looking to remediate as we go through.

10
So the site remediation would follow on behind the quarrying, and so it
would progressively move across the site. It would be complete
sometime after the extraction, obviously, because you need a hole to
clean-fill.  But, yes, it would obviously follow on behind.

15
MS VISKOVIC:   You said  that  processing  would  not  occur  on  these  smaller

sites that were closer to the urban boundary?

MR WILLIS:  Yes.  Our preference would be in fact to remove material from
the site, because there is a cost; there are other effects from processing20
on site.   If  you are reducing the size of the aggregate there is  a bit  of
noise involved in putting it through jaw-crushers and suchlike.  So our
preference would be, in general, to extract from the site, haul back to an
established quarry site where it is processed.

25
MS VISKOVIC:  Where a clean-filling operation was going to occur on a site,

it would be more advantageous to have it where the trucks could come
in and collect processed aggregate, leave a load of clean-fill and pick
that - - -

30
MR WILLIS:  That’s right, yes, indeed.

MS VISKOVIC:  Right.

MR WILLIS:  Yes, that is right, that is the ideal scenario, yes.35

MS VISKOVIC:  Thank you.  No further questions, thank you, sir.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Ms Viskovic.   I  will  see  if  there  is  questions
from the Panel.  Ms Dawson?40

MS DAWSON:  Thank you Mr  Willis.   Just  following  on  from the  questions
from  Ms  Viskovic,  I  mean  I  am  just  wanting  to  make  sure  I  have  an
understanding in my mind how the quarrying rehabilitation then, either
residentially or commercial development, would work.45
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MR WILLIS:  Yes.

MS DAWSON:  I mean, what is the likely end landform; is all of the site likely
to  be  able  to  be  available  for,  say,  residential  development,  or  would
some areas not?5

So if you could explain some scenarios of how it might work, and then
look at the end?

MR WILLIS:  Yes, indeed.  By way of example, if we could use Roberts Road10
quarry for example.  So that is a 49 hectare site, the quarry will occur in
the end of the site; it is removed from the urban boundary.  We have a
bund that is being constructed to – it’s as much noise attenuation as
anything else, some 200 metres inside the quarry boundary, which
leaves 200 metres of land, which is not quarried of course, that would15
be available immediately for residential development.

[12.15 pm]

As the site is worked out, and it will be worked out and effectively20
sells, it can be remediated in behind the quarrying.  And that can be
done in two ways; currently the consent doesn’t allow additional clean-
fill to come in, to bring the site back up to the original ground level, but
we have had expressed to us that it would be quite acceptable, in fact,
to have development in the lower landform that will exist post-25
quarrying, provided of course that it’s remediated properly, and that it
is to say; proper batters on the sides, a good covering of topsoil on the
base so that obviously people can have gardens and suchlike.

And so that is – it is perfectly possible to clean-fill back to normal30
ground level, in fact that is part of a number of our operations.  We
have quarries, for example, in South Canterbury, the Levels (ph 1.02)
Quarry.  We lease some of our quarried land – It’s been back-filled,
topsoil pushed back over the top – to adjacent farmers who grow crops
and run stock on it.35

So it is entirely possible to do it, and to do it in reasonably short order,
simply by diverting clean-fill into that site and managing it.  And as I
have said in my statement; while you are building this landform back
up it is a useful time to be pre-planning, and then installing40
infrastructure in the ground so you don’t create a landform and then
have to dig it up again to install the infrastructure.  So that can all
follow in behind in a staged and managed, built way.

MS DAWSON:  So could, I mean, is there enough clean-fill around and sort of45
in the immediate future, to rehabilitate to a similar ground levels, than
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was  prior  to  quarrying  for  the  sorts  of  scale  of  quarry  that  we  are
talking about, within the urban area?

MR WILLIS:  Well, it is a hard one to answer, specifically in that without
having a particular site in mind that you are going to back-fill, it is a5
little bit hard to predict precisely how much clean-fill will be coming to
you.

But  I  think  it  is  entirely  feasible,  particularly  smaller  sites  –  entirely
feasible to bring smaller sites back up to their original level.10

MS  DAWSON:   In  the  Roberts  Road  quarry,  what  will  end  up  being  the
difference in level between the surrounding and original ground level,
and, I mean if Mr Bligh can answer that you just say Mr Bligh will tell
me.15

MR WILLIS:  Well Mr Bligh might have a better memory of the conditions of
consent.  I think we are allowed at this stage to go to six metres, it may
be eight metres.  But Mr Bligh may be able to go further - - -

20
MS DAWSON:  So, I am just envisaging a situation where these people have

got their houses eight metres down in a hole that isn’t wet, but sort of –
and the rest of their neighbours are up above them, I mean is that really
a feasible option?

25
MR WILLIS:  At this stage that is  what the consent requires.   So, you know,

currently under the consent we are not able to – unless we vary the
consent – we are not able to use clean-fill to rehabilitate that site, at this
time.

30
MS DAWSON:  But that site is, and would continue to be, in a rural area, the

actual quarried bit, is it?

MR WILLIS:  Yes, I think it is.  I think the quarry pit itself, once rehabilitated,
will remain in the rural – and the other unquarried part will be available35
for development.

MR DAWSON:  I guess what I am interested in is; is it inevitable, or not, that
the quarried out areas would end up being quite a lot lower, and
therefore not necessarily suitable – thinking that we are talking about40
inside the urban area – and therefore perhaps not suitable for housing?

MR WILLIS:  Yes, and I understand that concern.  It wouldn’t be our intention
to do that.  So it would be, as we have said; there are many variables
and many factors to be taken into account if a proposal were to come45
forward to quarry an area prior to urban development.
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And  so  that  would  be  one  of  the  factors;  is  it  able  to  be  remediated
satisfactorily for the next use that would come along behind?  I think,
in general, the answer to your question then would be “yes,
we are perfectly capable of creating engineered fill into a site like that,5
clean-fill, so that it can be remediated, yes.

MS DAWSON:  Because, I mean I remember Ashby’s Pit that was referred to,
I mean it has quite a history as to what its future use might, or might
not, have been able to be, because it was - - -10

[12.20 pm]

MR WILLIS:   I think it was a rubbish dump at one point.
15

MS  DAWSON:    Yes,  so  clean  fill  could  be  engineered  to  be  an  acceptable
underlined residential not just commercial.

MR WILLIS:   Absolutely, yes, and clean fill – let’s be clear – clean fill is not
just any old fill that comes out of the ground, clean fill must be a20
certain description, it cannot just be waste material as it were.  We are
very particular about what we will accept into our quarries as clean fill,
it does not include bulk green waste, it does not include contaminated
soil, contaminated material, that all must go to a managed fill proof
facility.25

We are very particular about what clean fill is accepted onto our sites
but it may well include such things as concrete, obviously demolition
rubble of various sorts but not principally hard rubble and those sorts of
things, so it is not just any old stuff that you want to find somewhere to30
put it, it is very, very carefully managed and it can be put in the ground
and compacted properly so that you actually bring the site back up to
the original level and you can carry on business as usual, yes.

MS DAWSON:   I  just  have  a  few questions  about  the  map,  so  just  to  make35
sure that we are clear, the Roberts Road quarry is the area that just
overlaps into what I understand as the South Masham green residential
area below the word “Christchurch”.

MR WILLIS:   Yes, the bottle shaped shape.40

MS DAWSON:   And the Fulton Hogan headquarters is on Halswell Junction
Road?

MR  WILLIS:    It  is,  my  word,  I  cannot  read  this  without  my  glasses  I  am45
afraid.
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MS DAWSON:   But it is on Halswell, it is on the extension of Halswell Road
on the northern side of State Highway 1?

MR WILLIS:   Yes, yes, that is correct.5

MS DAWSON:   Yes, all right. But what I understand from the corrections that
you made to your evidence is that although this area shows a red line
around a high quality gravel resource it stops at effectively the urban
boundary.10

MR WILLIS:   The urban fence, yes.

MS DAWSON:   But what you are saying is that the actual resource itself does
not stop there.15

MR WILLIS:   No.

MS  DAWSON:    It  is  there  inside  the  urban  boundary  places  where  we  had
Mr English’s  map that  showed some tongues  of  it  going  well  into  the20
urban area.

MR WILLIS:   Yes, that is correct.

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much, that is all the questions from me,25
thank you.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Mr Udale.

MR UDALE:   Look, I don’t really have, I have very few questions, other than,30
I think they are pretty much in line with Ms Dawson’s questions but
just for clarity and for my clarity, what you are proposing or is being
proposed here, sorry, is that these provisions would, for example
pertain to these sorts of areas of greenfield land?

35
MR WILLIS:   The green and blue areas, yes.

MR UDALE:   And in that, given that some of those are quite substantial and if
this material is ubiquitous and therefore presumably pretty well known
and laid down pretty consistently across that whole area - - -40

MR WILLIS:   Yes.

MR UDALE:   - - - what’s to stop a proposition that would actually be about
extracting resource from 100% of one of those areas?45
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MR  WILLIS:    The  nature  of  Fulton  Hogan’s  submission  is  to  actually  seek
that it can be considered.  It would remain as I understand it under the
current proposal a fully discretionary activity and so alongside the
matters that I have touched on before around is it viable, all of the other
matters around how long, how difficult will the consenting process be,5
what do the neighbours think, those sorts of things while other
restrictions come into place such as how close to the airport overlay or
does  CIAL  have  any  particular  restrictions  they  may  wish  to  impose,
those sorts of factors all come into play in determining firstly is it even
viable to pursue.10

Then the second thing of course is the consenting process and at that
point the Council may well say, well, we will let you do that much but
not that much.  It is a fully discretionary activity and the Council would
need to be convinced that effects could be mitigated or minimised to15
the extent that it requires and that it had confidence that it was
appropriate for it to proceed.

MR  UDALE:    And  so  in  a  rehabilitation  process  typically  excluding
engineered  clean  fill  with  the  overburden  that  you  would  strip  off,20
would that bring that land if that was essentially pushed back into the
hole above a water table or would it end up as a wet space?

[12.25 pm]
25

MR WILLIS:   As it stands operations occur to a metre above the highest
known groundwater level.

MR UDALE:   Right, okay.
30

MR WILLIS:   And the top soil would go over the top so that’s if it’s just left
as a hole.

MR UDALE:   As essentially a dry pit?
35

MR WILLIS:   Yes.

MR UDALE:   All right, I do not have any other questions.

JUDGE  HASSAN:    Thank  you,  Mr  Willis,  just  a  couple  of  other  matters  to40
follow up on, just firstly, again back to Roberts Road just for a minute,
so looking at that site does Fulton Hogan have any ownership interests
associated with the greenfield priority area that is alongside it?



Page 329

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15

MR UDALE:    Only  to  the  extent  that  we  own the  Roberts  Road block  as  it
were,  we  have  sought  changes  to  allow  for  urban  development  to
extend into that area.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  I  am going to just  assume for the minute that all5
manner of issues to do with the effects on the environment, the
neighbours, the water table and everything else would be as you say
assumed to be able to be addressed within the rules regime of the plan,
we have not seen all of those rules, we assume that rules will come
through on different things and they will be relevant and on the basis10
that the activity that Fulton Hogan are seeking would be one which
would be at least open discretionary if everything like that would be
able to be addressed.

Putting all of that stuff to one side, an issue that I have got on my mind15
is whether there would be some hidden risk in terms of achieving
greenfield development in the optimal way.

MR WILLIS:   In behind the quarrying, you mean, sir?
20

JUDGE  HASSAN:    Yes,  so  some  of  the  issues  we  have  to  grapple  with  in
terms of looking at this subdivision chapter relating to what they call
new neighbourhood zones or greenfield priority areas, is the fact that
you will typically have a collection of landowner interests, do you
understand that in terms of say any particular greenfield area there25
might be a large number of landowners?

MR WILLIS:   Yes.

JUDGE HASSAN:   And they may have their own timetables and aspirations30
for  when it  suits  them to  subdivide  to  meet  the  market  and  how they
should  configure  themselves  in  terms  of  the  types  of  subdivision,  the
intensity and so forth again to meet the market.

So the issue I have and it is probably something I will explore a bit35
further with Mr Bligh is when it comes to the most recent version of the
policy addition which Ms Limmer is asking for on your behalf, that
most  recent  addition  refers  to  provision  for  extraction  of  aggregate
from these greenfield sites then in conjunction with subdivision, so in
my understanding of that from her comments and yours is that it is40
anticipating allowing for a comprehensive development which involves
both subdivision application and land use for quarrying all in one
comprehensive package, that is right, is it?

MR WILLIS:   Yes, sir.45
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, now Ms Dawson asked you about the potential
risks associated with say changes in ground level if not properly
backfilled, the potential for the land in that part of the greenfield area to
be suboptimal for housing development, do you understand that?

5
MR WILLIS:   Yes.

JUDGE HASSAN:   So is the right frame of reference and maybe you can
defer to Mr Bligh’s opinion on this in conjunction with subdivision
enough or  does  it  need  to  go  further  and  refer  to  the  potential  for  the10
wider outlined Development Plan objectives to be impeded or not
impeded by the comprehensive development?  Do you see what I
mean?  It is difficult enough as it is and this is adding an interesting
new dimension to that.

15
MR WILLIS:   Yes, I think I understand what you are asking, sir.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Sorry I could not have made it simpler – see how you go.

MR WILLIS:   If I understand correctly your concern is that at the end of the20
game,  at  the  end  of  the  extraction  period  the  rehabilitation  of  the  site
may not in fact be satisfactory to fulfil the ultimate purposes of that
land, that is greenfield priority areas through either urban or business
type industry.

25
[12.30 pm]

JUDGE  HASSAN:    It  might  be  quite  well  integrated  with  your  own
subdivision aspirations but it actually might end up compromising
somebody else’s.30

MR WILLIS:   Yes, indeed.  I suspect that that exists with, as you say, a
collective of individuals who are our individual landowners with their
own expectations  and  aspirations  in  terms  of  return  on  investment  for
their landholding and this is of course something that we deal with35
when we are looking to acquire land or investigating land that may be
available for quarrying anyway, it is a matter that we have to address as
well.

I  sort  of  lost  my  train  of  thought  a  little  bit  –  it  is  inevitably40
problematic, irrespective of whether a quarry is to go in there in
advance of the development into urban or some other type of activity or
whether in fact it just remains as it is in multiple individual private
ownership  and  they  pursue  their  own  agendas  in  terms  of  what  they
would like to maximise the outcome and I have had experience with45
occasions where you have multiple landowners and Councils wanting
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obviously to have land set aside for roading to service the area that is to
be subdivided and developed and of course none of the developers
want  the  road  on  their  place,  they  want  the  houses  on  their  place
because that is where the money is.

5
And so I think it is a fraught situation in any event, the best I guess I
can say is that as part of that outline development planning, as part of
that subdivision in the development planning the Council would need
to  be  satisfied  that  we  had  satisfactorily  covered  off  those  matters  so
that we did not have unexpected or inadvertent cul-de-sacs created or10
those sorts of things.

JUDGE  HASSAN:    Do  you  think  in  terms  of  the  operation  of  one  of  these
proposals at an operational level I should say that Fulton Hogan can be
expected to negotiate or do, or have discussions with other landowners15
with interests in the outlined development area in advance of putting its
proposal forward?

MR WILLIS:   I think that would be a standard part of our development
strategy, sir.20

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and so in that sense properly expressed it could be
reflected in the wording of the policy in some way, not specifically like
that but recognising the wider picture.

25
MR WILLIS:   Yes, I think it is important that in fact we understand that this is

to be integrated and that is the nature of what we are seeking is that the
quarrying itself is an integrated part of the larger development so that it
does  not  in  fact  compromise  ultimately  what  the  ambition  of  the  plan
is.30

JUDGE  HASSAN:    Thank  you,  Mr  Willis.   Any  questions  arising,
Ms Viskovic?

MS VISKOVIC:   No, sir.35

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Limmer?

MS LIMMER:   No, sir, thank you.
40

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Willis, you are free to go.  Call your next
witness.

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.33 pm]
45

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  Call Mr Bligh.
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<KEVIN MICHAEL BLIGH, affirmed [12.33 pm]
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<EXAMINATION BY MS LIMMER [12.33 pm]

MS LIMMER:   Can you confirm please that your full name is Kevin Michael
Bligh?

5
MR BLIGH:   Yes, that is correct.

MS LIMMER:   And you are a senior planner at Golder Associates?

MR BLIGH:   Yes, that is correct.10

MS LIMMER:   Have you previously prepared evidence in this matter dated
8 June 2015?

MR BLIGH:   I have.15

MS LIMMER:   And you have the qualifications and experience set out in that
evidence?

MR BLIGH:   I do.20

MS  LIMMER:    Do  you  have  any  corrections  you  wish  to  make  to  that
evidence?

MR BLIGH:   No, I do not.25

MS LIMMER:   Do you confirm then that it  is  true and correct to the best  of
your knowledge?

MR BLIGH:   Yes, it is.30

MS LIMMER:   I understand, Mr Bligh, you have prepared a summary of your
evidence that you would like to take the Panel through but perhaps
before we move to that it would be a convenient time to deal with the
exhibit.  So if I can have this handed up to you to look at, please.35

JUDGE HASSAN:   You do not need to produce it as such in the normal way,
Ms Limmer, it is already in but by all means if you want to ask him any
questions about it that is fine but the formalities are completed.

40
MS LIMMER:   Certainly, sir, well perhaps – oh, you have got a copy, if you

could just explain what that is a map of briefly, Mr Bligh, I think the
Panel do have a grasp on that anyway and then move onto your
summary of the evidence.

45
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[12.35 pm]

MR BLIGH:    So  the  map identifies  the  gravel  overlay  as  identified  in  stage
two  of  the  District  Plan  process.   It  also  identifies  the  greenfield
priority areas, both residential and business and identifies existing5
quarry sites within the Christchurch area.

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, Mr Bligh.

JUDGE  HASSAN:    Now,  Ms  Limmer,  you  are  drafting  in  regard,  on  page10
eight of your submissions, did you want to ask any questions about that
of this witness?

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, if I might.  Mr Bligh, you have seen the last page of
my legal submissions and the policy wording contained therein.15

MR BLIGH:   Yes, I have.

MS LIMMER:   That wording differs from the wording in your evidence and I
am wondering if you could take the time please to explain to us how20
that wording differs and whether it is wording that you, yourself, would
recommend.

MR BLIGH:   So in terms of how the wording differs, the wording that I have
set out in my evidence, it addresses the extraction of aggregate from the25
greenfield sites prior to urban development occurring and then with the
qualifiers where that extraction and subsequent site redevelopment is
practicable and continues to enable urban development in accordance
with the provisions of this plan.

30
Now, the wording that is included in the legal submissions point B1, it
picks up on the qualification that is included in the wording in my own
evidence and then we also have I guess in there an additional comment
specifically regarding adverse effects and minimisation of those effects
on nearby urban activities.35

There is also wording in there that refers to in conjunction with
subdivision which has been discussed already and I can talk about that
more if required.  That wording that is proposed in the legal
submissions, it also picks up on, I guess I am supportive of that40
wording in that it picks up on some matters that have come through in
discussions  with  the  other  experts  on  this,  namely  Mr  Long  and
Ms McIntyre and it reflects some of that discussion although I note we
did not between us have an agreed wording.

45



Page 335

Ch8: Subdivision, Development & Earthworks (Part) Commenced 23.06.15

MS LIMMER:   Right.  Mr Bligh, one of the observations I would make is that
there is a change from having this as a sub clause to A which
commences “by facilitating” to having a separate sub clause that
commences “provide for”.  Can you enlighten the Panel on the reasons
behind that?5

MR BLIGH:   Yes, that is correct.  In terms of the change from facilitating in
my opinion I think “provide for” is an appropriate wording in that it
recognises the importance of the resource and circumstances where
extraction could occur whilst being subject to the qualifiers which are10
proposed in that wording, however, it is more than say the term
“consider” which was something I’ve discussed with the experts.

In terms of not having the word “facilitating” I am of the opinion that
“provide for” still recognises the importance of that aggregate resource,15
but does not place the same, I  guess onus that the Council  has placed
on the matters that are covered in A which are quite clearly to facilitate
those types of subdivision so while recognising that importance it quite
clearly separates it from those kind of matters which the Council is
directly seeking to facilitate.20

MS LIMMER:   Yes, thank you Mr Bligh, those are all the questions I have in
respect of that wording and perhaps now if you can read through your
summary statement and remain to answer any questions arising.

25
MR BLIGH:   Thank you.  Fulton Hogan in its submission sought the inclusion

of a new policy in Chapter 8 to provide for the ability to quarry
greenfield priority areas prior to urban development occurring.  Subject
to some minor amendments including placing a proposed policy within
policy 8.1.2.1 recovery activities rather than where Fulton Hogan has30
sought it be requested, which was policy 8.1.2.9, I consider the
proposed policy will more appropriately give effect to the higher order
planning documents and is the most appropriate approach in the context
of section 32 of the Resource Management Act.

35
[12.40 pm]

The wording of the proposed policy incorporating the proposed
amendments, as are set out in Ms Limmer’s legal submissions, and we40
have just discussed that there is obviously a change from my evidence
and I have discussed and I am supportive of those words.

I  consider  that  the  proposed  policy  as  reworded  will  not  compromise
urban development provided for within the greenfield priority areas and45
the higher order planning framework.
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I have been careful to include qualifiers within the policy to ensure that
aggregate extraction can only occur where site redevelopment is
practicable and will occur within an appropriate timeframe.  For that
reason there will only ever be a limited number of applications that5
benefit from the proposed policy.

I also consider that the proposed policy more appropriately provides for
the outcome sought by objective 3.3.15(d), Temporary Recovery
Activities, which is recognised in the importance of aggregate10
extraction, associated processing and transportation of extracted and
processed product to support recovery.  Especially as compared to the
proposed policy regime which does not recognise the ability to realise
such benefits.

15
I consider the appropriate location of the proposed policy is within the
subdivision chapter.  Its placement within this chapter allows for an
integrated assessment of an overall land development package which
incorporates any quarrying, subsequent rehabilitation and future
subdivision together.  And for example I consider that the proposed20
policy would not be relevant to a resource consent application that only
sought to undertake quarrying within greenfield priority areas without
that rehabilitation and subdivision component.

I note that there was a difference of opinion between Mr Long and25
myself previously regarding objective 3.3.7(c).  Following expert
conferencing  we  have  come  to  an  agreed  opinion  on  that  so  I  won’t
cover that further but if there is any questions I will be happy to answer
them.

30
Following the expert conferencing, the identified point of difference
between Mr Long, and myself and Ms McIntyre, was that Mr Long
considers that it is not appropriate to have a policy which addresses a
rural  activity  within  an  urban  zone,  on  the  basis  that  the  Regional
Policy Statement identifies quarrying as a rural activity and it is35
therefore  not  appropriate  for  a  policy  to  promote  quarrying  the  urban
areas.

He also notes in the conferencing statement that locating quarries in
urban areas is of concern to the Council in terms of the management of40
effects.   I  consider  that  such  a  policy  is  appropriate.   It  provides  for
recovery needs and efficient use of resources and with the qualifiers
that are included such an activity could only occur where effects can be
minimised or appropriately managed and where it does not impede
future urban development of that land.45
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I will further add to that that greenfield priority areas are currently
occupied by rural activities, and some continuing provisions for rural
activities is appropriate considering that there will be an interim land
use before that land is developed.  Thank you.

5
JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  Ms Viskovic, thank you.

<CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS VISKOVIC [12.43 pm]

MS VISKOVIC:  Thank you.  Good morning Mr Bligh.10

MR BLIGH:  Good morning.

MS VISKOVIC:  Good afternoon.
15

MR BLIGH:  Good afternoon, yes.

MS VISKOVIC:  Just turning to the differences in the policy wording that
were suggested in your evidence and the policy that you are now
supporting, which was included in Ms Limmer’s legal submissions, I20
just note that in the policy in your evidence which was 8.1.2.9, that
policy has now been deleted or is proposed to be deleted through this
hearing and has been replaced with a general policy on outline
development plans but I just note that the original wording of that
policy related to additional subdivision design for greenfield residential25
areas.

MR BLIGH:  That is correct.

MS VISKOVIC:  And the amendment that you are now suggesting to 8.1.2.130
seems  to  be  more  general;  it  is  for  greenfield  sites  rather  than
identifying residential areas, or should the words priority residential - -
-

[12.45 pm]35

MR BLIGH:  No, it does refer to greenfield sites generally, that is correct.

MS VISKOVIC:  So you are going beyond what you have previously been
seeking, and what I understand Fulton Hogan have sought in its40
submission?

MR BLIGH:  I guess in terms of what Fulton Hogan has - - -
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Are you answering the question or just giving an
explanation at this point?  Just answer the question first and then give
your explanation.

MR BLIGH:  The wording I am proposing refers to greenfield sites generally,5
so it is more than greenfield residential sites.

MS VISKOVIC:   So  it  does  go  beyond what  Fulton  Hogan had  sought  in  its
submission?

10
MR BLIGH:  In the context of that referring to greenfield residential sites, yes.

MS VISKOVIC:  Yes.

JUDGE  HASSAN:   And  you  are  referring  there  to  the  context  of  the15
submission made by Fulton Hogan in appendix A, is that correct?

MR BLIGH:  That is correct.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.20

MS VISKOVIC:  As you will be aware there is significant policy and statutory
support for the development of the greenfield residential land in
Christchurch to aid the rebuilding and recovery.  This includes policies
6.3.1 and 6.3.7 of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement which25
both of those policies support greenfield residential development which
is outlined in map A in the RPS, which you attached to your evidence?

MR BLIGH:  Yes.
30

MS VISKOVIC:  Also action 19 of the Land Use Recovery Plan requires the
Council to provide for development of the greenfield priority areas, in
particular the residential areas through the Proposed District Plan
process?

35
MR BLIGH:  Yes, and I did note in my evidence what those higher documents

are and how they provide for that.

MS VISKOVIC:  Also the statement of expectations which guides the Panel in
its decision making refers in C, it requires the effective functioning of40
the urban environment in the Christchurch district?

MR BLIGH:  Yes.

MS  VISKOVIC:   And  D2  requires  the  District  Plan  to  ensure  capacity  of45
23,700 dwellings by 2028?
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MR BLIGH:  Yes.

MS VISKOVIC:  And one of the ways that those additional dwellings are to be
provided for is through the priority greenfield residential areas?5

MR BLIGH:  Yes, that is correct.

MS VISKOVIC:  Also policy 6.3.11 of the Regional Policy Statement requires
monitoring of supply of residential land to ensure there is sufficient10
available  capacity  to  meet  the  objectives  and  policies  of  the  Regional
Policy Statement.

MR BLIGH:  Yes, I am familiar with the policy.
15

MS VISKOVIC:  And that would include the requirement for the greenfield
residential areas to be provided for, as set out in those documents?

MR BLIGH:  Yes.
20

MS  VISKOVIC:   Even  if  quarrying  activities  were  short  term,  they  would
prevent the land being used for greenfield residential for a number of
years.  You couldn’t develop a quarry and residential development
concurrently on the same piece of land, the quarry would go first?

25
MR BLIGH:  There would be a timeframe in which quarrying activities were

taking place that residential development would obviously not be
taking place.

MS  VISKOVIC:   And  as  an  example  Mr  Willis  talked  about  a  short  term30
quarry being eight years, a forecast life of eight years.

MR BLIGH:  I think a short term quarry is not restricted to say eight years.  A
short term quarry could be much shorter than that.  And it would
depend on the size of the area to be quarried and also the depth of the35
resource that was to be quarried and a number of other factors.  But I
wouldn’t say that a short term quarry would always be in the order of
eight years and I have been involved in applications which have been
considerably shorter than that.

40
MS VISKOVIC:  I understand that but when you are talking about short term

quarries the time frames that you are talking in could be say eight
years,  in  terms  of  a  forecast  life,  that  is  within  what  is  described  as  a
short term quarry life?

45
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MR BLIGH:   In  terms  of  the  wording  that  is  proposed  the  life  of  any  quarry
and that subsequent rehabilitation would have to be undertaken in such
a manner that it did not impede that urban development and as you
have discussed the provision of that  housing. Now, to say eight years,
whatever that timeframe was would need to be considered in the5
context of the application.

[12.50 pm]

MS VISKOVIC:  What I suppose I am trying to get a feel for is when you talk10
about short term quarry operations, how lengthy that can be, what kind
of time scale that can be and from Mr Willis’ evidence it sounds like
when quarry operators talk about short-term quarries that that would be
in order of eight years?

15
MR BLIGH:  The lifetime would depend on the application and what was

being sought, however, if it wasn’t an appropriate timeframe it would
not  achieve  the  wording  that  is  set  out  there  so  as  I  said  I  have  been
involved in applications that involve quarrying and rehabilitation which
has included filling which have been in the timeframe that is less than20
that.  So in terms of eight years it does not mean an application would
have to take eight years.

MS VISKOVIC:  I suppose I just note that 2028 is 13 years away and if a
quarry was going to have a forecast life of eight years which Mr Willis25
has said would be a short-term quarry and that quarry would need to be
consented, established, rehabilitate, I appreciate that in some
circumstances it could be less than eight years but in some
circumstances when you are talking about quarrying short-term could
include eight years or potentially even more when you take into30
account the consenting and so on from now until when the quarry was
completed and rehabilitated.

MR BLIGH:  Whatever the timeframe sought if such an application was made
it would have to be appropriate to meet those qualifiers which is why I35
have placed emphasis on them.  I would like to, I guess, make the point
that Mr Willis whilst he talked about eight years he also talked about a
shorter timeframe and bearing in mind that is for say 20 hectares of
quarrying a smaller area would obviously be a shorter duration.

40
I  am  reluctant  to  I  guess  try  and  define  a  short-term  quarry  in  the
context of a specific figure of eight years, it will be very application
dependent.

MS VISKOVIC:  So what would be a short-term quarry then, I suppose?  What45
timeframe?  When you were describing - - -
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MR BLIGH:  A short-term quarry could range from a period of say as little as
maybe one to two years.

MS VISKOVIC:  So it would range from one to two years, to?5

MS  LIMMER:   Sir,  I  do  not  mean  to  interrupt  but  I  think  Mr  Bligh  has
answered this question in the last few minutes.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes.  Just round out the question, Ms Viskovic, just10
mindful of time.  I do not want to rush you at all.

MS  VISKOVIC:   I  will  move  on.   If,  after  the  quarry  is  consented  or
established a shortfall in housing supplies, determined through the
monitoring required under the regional policy statement, the land that is15
currently being used for quarrying would not be available for
residential development, would it? – If it was currently being quarried?

MR BLIGH:  Not until it was rehabilitated to a standard that was appropriate
for that urban development.20

MS  VISKVOIC:   Both  the  Canterbury  Regional  Policy  Statement  and  the
Proposed District Plan characterised quarrying as a rural activity, is that
correct?

25
JUDGE HASSAN:  The answer to that is  yes,  I  think, is  it  not?  Sorry,  I  am

just trying to cut through.

MR BLIGH:  The Canterbury Regional Policy Statement defines quarrying and
axillary activities as a rural activity and, sorry, can you repeat the30
second part of that?

MS  VISKOVIC:   And  the  Regional  Policy  Statement  also  characterises
quarrying as a rural activity.

35
MR BLIGH:  Sorry, that was the - - -

MS VISKOVIC:  Oh, sorry, the Proposed District Plan.

MR BLIGH:  The Proposed District Plan I do not have the definitions in front40
of me and I did look at the definition of quarrying earlier.  I do seem to
recall  the  definition  of  rural  activity  in  the  Proposed  District  Plan  as
very brief, however, I do not have it in front of me and I would
consider that the RPS would see it as direction.

45
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[12.55 pm]

JUDGE  HASSAN:   You  will  have  to  bear  in  mind  Ms  Viskovic  that  we  are
looking at this plan and have not made any standard decisions on any
of the provisions you refer to.5

MS VISKOVIC:  I appreciate that, sir.  And generally that characterisation of
quarrying as a rural activity is because the effects are not compatible
with urban activities?

10
MR BLIGH:  I would say that characterisation of quarrying as a rural activity

is that quarrying activities generally establish in rural areas and that
relates  to  a  number  of  factors.   I  guess  one  of  those  things  is  where
there is resource available urban areas are typically already allocated
for urban development and you need to bear in mind I guess the zoning15
regimes and consenting activity status and location of resource so it
does vary.

MS VISKOVIC:  Now I understand that through caucusing there has been an
agreement reached that should the Panel be minded to include a policy20
it should cover management of effects, rehabilitation and quarrying
activities, not compromise future urban development, that is set out in
the caucusing statement?

MR BLIGH:  That is correct.25

MS VISKOVIC:  And I just note that the amendment to 8.1.2.1 subparagraph
two  is  to  address  management  of  effects  but  that  does  not  require
mitigation to a level appropriate for an urban area, does it, the way that
it is currently drafted?30

MR BLIGH:  The intention of the wording “minimised” is to minimise effects.

MS VISOKOVIC:  Yes.
35

MR BLIGH:  So that would be minimising those effects and I think Mr Willis
talked about a one loader situation.

MS VISOKVIC:  But it does not require that the effects are minimised say to a
level that is commensurate for an urban area.40

MR BLIGH:   No,  because  I  think  those  effects,  what  is  commensurate  to  an
urban area obviously depends on what urban area is in question and
what urban areas are nearby and minimise is minimise, I would see
minimise as actually being quite a strong requirement and potentially45
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actually tougher than commensurate with urban activity in some
circumstances.

MS VISKOVIC:  Thank you, sir, no further questions.
5

JUDGE  HASSAN:   Thank  you,  Ms  Viskovic.   I  think  we  will  just  carry  on
though  if  that  is  okay.   Have  Mr  Jordan  here,  Mr  Jordan  is  it  your
preference for us to carry on through and allow you to be presented
before we take the lunch break?

10
MR JORDAN:  That is fine, carry on.

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, we will do that.  Ms Dawson?

MS DAWSON:  Thank you, Mr Bligh.  My first  question about the plan,  can15
you just  clarify for me if  it  has any, what its  basis is,  does it  have any
statutory basis or is in any document that we should know about, where
does it come from?

MR BLIGH:  In terms of the layers commission?20

MS DAWSON:  Quarry overlay area, I mean, sorry.

MR BLIGH:  The quarry overlay area is proposed in stage 2, chapter 17 of the
District Plan process.25

MS DAWSON:  So it is embedded within that at the moment?

MR BLIGH:  Yes, it is an appendix.
30

MS DAWSON:  All right, and to the rural chapters, do you know?

MR BLIGH:  Yes.

MS  DAWSON:   That  is  all  right,  thank  you.   Now  you,  you  mentioned  that35
quarrying would be a – I think you say either a non-complying or a
discretionary activity.  Can you sort of tell me how you come to those
two statuses  and  why you think  it  would  be  those,  what  are  the  rules
that you are referring to?

40
MR BLIGH:  Yes, in terms of that comment from my interpretation of the plan

as notified and viewing the greenfield areas as being either residential
new neighbourhood or industrial, my reading of the plan as notified is
that it would be a non-compliant activity in both of those zones.

45
MS DAWSON:  Both of the zones?  As notified in stage one?
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MR BLIGH:  As notified in stage 1, having had regard to the City Council’s
closing submissions, my interpretation is that it would be discretionary
in those zones.

5
MS DAWSON:  All right, because there has been various versions of both of

those zones.

[1.00 pm]
10

MR  BLIGH:    And  it  seems  a  general  move  away  from  any  activity  not
provided for being non-complying to being discretionary.  I would also
note  whilst  not  for  providing  for  the  whole  activity  the  processing  of
quarried material is to be included as a discretionary activity in the
Industrial Heavy Zone as per the Council’s closing submissions.  I15
acknowledge  that  is  only  the  position  that  has  been  put  forward,  it  is
not based on any decision of the Panel.

MS DAWSON:   Do you think  that,  is  it  your  view that  the  move  from non-
complying to discretionary for quarrying itself is evident in both the20
residential, and treating in the New Neighbourhood Zones and in
Residential and in the Industrial Zones in the Commercial Industrial
Chapters, Industrial Chapters in this case?

MR BLIGH:   Yes, that was my reading of it.25

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you.  As I understand you and Mr Long now
agree that the policy 6.3.1 that you both referred to is really aimed at
making sure that urban activities are in Urban Zones, but in terms of
the RPS, in terms of objectives of policies that might direct where rural30
activity should or should not occur, have you, are there any policies,
objectives and policies that you want to draw to our attention, are there
any  policies  of  relevance  that  would  direct  the  location  of  rural
activities not to be in an Urban Zone?

35
MR BLIGH:   No, there is no direction that I saw that said rural activities could

not be within an Urban Zone.  I guess my thoughts on that are it is not
generally a problem that most councils are faced with.

MS DAWSON:   So, yes, it is silent is it from what you can see?40

MR  BLIGH:    Yes,  whilst  there  is  policy  about  rural  activities  there  was  no
crosshair I would like to highlight in respect of that.

MS DAWSON:   Ms Viskovic put to you a series of higher level statutory45
documents that talk about achieving various targets for residential
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development, whether it is in the RPS or the LURP or coming into the
Proposed Plan about achieving those targets by 2028 for example, and I
know I am not pointing you to any particular policies, but how do you
reconcile those types of policies with the policy you are suggesting to
enable quarrying to occur under recovery activities?5

MR  BLIGH:    I  guess,  firstly,  I  consider  that  the  policy  wording  that  is
proposed in terms of the quarrying as a recovery activity, it really is
critical in my mind that there is that qualification that this would only
occur where it does not impede or does not compromise that urban10
development, so it is considered, the activity is considered and it can be
rehabilitated and that development can occur.

I think that is critical that that is included and that was part of the
rationale for why I suggested different wording to that which was15
originally sought by Fulton Hogan, so I think that is a really a key
component of that so it cannot compromise that and those higher level
objectives and drivers that are included in those documents.

MS DAWSON:   That would need to include, I think it is included in the latest20
version, an element of the timeframe so because the higher level
documents are time bound, in other words they have a date I think the
not impeding urban development would need to be not impeding within
the timeframes required.

25
MR  BLIGH:    Yes,  I  think  that  is  a  valid  point.   I  did  give  quite  a  bit  of

consideration to wording that could address that and whether it is tied
back to say some objectives from the Strategic Directions chapter, and I
guess the wording that is being put forward in Ms Limmer’s legal
submissions talks about timeframe and it is important that that30
timeframe is recognised.

I guess the question possibly is does it get tied to a specific, say,
objective, I think the objective might have been 3.3.4 of the Strategic
Directions.  I think that is a very important consideration.35

[1.05 pm]

MS DAWSON:   In your evidence the addition that you added in on paragraph
32 of your evidence it uses the words “continues to enable urban40
development in accordance with the provisions of this plan” and am I
reading,  there  are  some  elements  of  what  you  had  that  are  not  really
picked up in the version in Ms Limmer’s legal submissions and I would
just like you to comment on that.

45
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One of them is in accordance with the provisions of the plan and I think
Ms  Viskovic  put  to  you  that  it  is  not  only,  well  maybe  it  was  the
Chairman to put to Mr Willis, it is not only not impeding the urban
development but it is not impeding that in accordance with the intended
integrated form of the outline plan for example.5

It is not just in conjunction with Fulton Hogan’s particular subdivision
but it needs to be in accordance with all subdivision that would lead to
urban development across that outlined plan.  Is there anything that you
think is missing from Ms Limmer’s policy if I can get call it that, which10
probably is not her policy, and that extra wording that you have added
in?

MR  BLIGH:    Yes,  I  mean  I  must  admit  some  of  the  changes  I  guess  are
generally  consistent  with  what  I  discussed  with  Mr  Long  and15
Ms  McIntyre,  and  I  do  note  your  point  there  about  the  change  and  I
also  noted  the  point  earlier  that  was  asked  with  regards  to  outline
development plans in the other development of that land.

It is a valid point, in terms of how it is captured I think it is difficult and20
a number of the points Mr Willis made I felt were quite valid in terms
of how development can occur even where there may not be this
activity happening, but I do acknowledge that and if it could be
captured I think it would be helpful, yes.

25
MR  DAWSON:    I  think  all  of  the  Greenfields  areas  and  whether  it  is

residential or business but particularly residential have to have an
outline plan, and that is the technique that is used or intended to be
used to enable an integrated approach across the Greenfields priority
area by the multiple landowners in accordance with an overall plan.30

One thing I am wondering is whether even a use like quarrying still
needs to not impede that overall development in accordance with that
plan rather than just being in conjunction with subdivision, and not
impede the intended future use which is quite general.  All right, well35
sorry I have not actually asked you a question.

Do  you  think  that  some  reference  to,  I  mean  this  is  just,  I  am  just
putting this out there as some reference to the outline plan could
possibly be incorporated or integrated use development across the40
Greenfields area or something like that?

MR BLIGH:   I think it could, I think it would have to be, it would have to be
wording such that it did not sort of set an unreasonable expectation that
coordination would almost be in perfect harmony, but I do accept45
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intended future use is quite general and perhaps some more words
about that overall development would be more helpful potentially, yes.

MR  DAWSON:    Okay,  thank  you,  now  let  me  just  check,  so  my  other
questions really are about the relationship between the residential5
chapter say and the subdivision chapter.  Have you looked at the
objectives  and  policies  of  the  residential  chapter  to  see  if  there  is
anything in there that would cause any inconsistencies with having a
policy like this in the subdivision chapter?

10
MR BLIGH:   I have looked at the residential chapter and in particular in

considering those words and what words would be most appropriate.

[1.10 pm]
15

I guess a key sort of aspect of my thinking, in terms of this being in the
subdivision chapter, is to reflect that it is a package, because it is
important  to  not  compromise  that  future  land  use,  and  that  any
timeframe within the quarry, and the rehabilitation where appropriate,
so that the targets for the number of households was achieved within20
that timeframe.

I think that by bringing it into the subdivision, it means that the
applications would need to be considered together, as such, and you
would have a situation where the amount of quarrying, rehabilitation,25
and then the urban development, and that was considered together and
does it fit in with those timeframes that are set out in the planning
documents.

I  guess,  also,  that  as  I  see  it  as  being  –  obviously  any  extraction30
occurring prior to that urban development – I guess that will be another
aspect for why I think it sits better in the subdivision, that it would
perhaps in the residential itself.

MS DAWSON:  But you accept that the residential objectives and policies35
would still be relevant to the consideration of any application for
quarrying, in say, a new neighbourhood zone?

MR BLIGH:  Yes, yes I do.  I guess a key aspect of the wording proposed here
is the “provide for”; the recognition that, subject to meeting these40
qualifiers, the activity should be provided for.  Whereas one would
expect I think under just the residential chapter itself, it is very unlikely
that - - -

MS DAWSON:  They would be dealing with it?45
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MR BLIGH:  Yes, absolutely.

MS DAWSON:  So, did I hear Ms Limmer say that when we come to stage 2,
and maybe some of the other new neighbourhood zone that are not
physically before us at the moment, that Fulton Hogan may have other5
submissions on those zones?

JUDGE HASSAN:  Or are a related company, I think?

MS DAWSON:  Sorry, or a related company – if you do not know the answer10
to that, do not say.

MR BLIGH:  Yes, that is my understanding, although I note I have not been
involved in the preparation of those submissions.

15
MS DAWSON:  You have not been involved, all right.  And, I mean, the land

use consent, be it non-complying or discretionary, comes out of the
residential chapters, say, in the case of a Greenfields residential site; do
you think that having just that one word, the one little phrase in this
policy, would be sufficient – which says, “in conjunction with20
subdivision”  –  is  sufficient  to  ensure  that  an  integrated  land  use  and
subdivision consent is made?

MR BLIGH:  My reading of that would be that if a subdivision application was
not part of this application, then this policy could not be relied upon.25

MS DAWSON:  And that is what is intended by having that requirement there?

MR BLIGH:  Correct.
30

MS DAWSON:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Thank you, that is all from
me.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  Mr Udale?
35

MR UDALE:  Right, just a couple of questions largely around the wording, as
put forward in Ms Limmers legal submission, and just for clarity, any
consent  for  an  activity  like  this  would  be  essentially  part  of  a
subdivision consent and in the B1 as proposed, that the site will be
back-filled and/or rehabilitated, would effectively be a precursor and40
that inability to show that could be done would effectively fail; the
subdivision application would fail on that basis?

MR BLIGH:  Correct.
45
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MR  UDALE:   Example,  a  Roberts  Road  scenario;  if  the  land  cannot  be  put
back into a state suitable for residential or commercial development, it
would fail?

MR BLIGHT:  Correct.5

MR UDALE:  In the context of the issue around timing and the consideration
of what is short, or otherwise, and I think this goes along the questions
that Ms Dawson was asking, is effectively that a key consideration for
the consent authority, in considering any application, would be the10
amount of greenfield land remaining available for development and the
rate of which that had been taken up, or was reasonable been forecasted
to be taken up, and that, in itself, might limit the life of a quarry or any
extractive activity based on what that forecast was.

15
[1.15 pm]

Albeit, there might be ten years’ worth of aggregate that could be
extracted, if a view was formed that, “Actually, we need the land in
five years’ time”, then a reasonable limit would be five years?20

MR BLIGH:   Yes,  and  that  could  well  influence  the  nature  of  an  application
that was made and how long it sought it operate and perhaps how deep,
and those factors I think, yes, very integral to what is intended.

25
MR UDALE:  Yes, so short is a matter that has to be considered in a kind of

broadest terms around the higher objectives and the need for land to be
available in a timely way for urban development?

MR BLIGH:  Yes, I think what is more important, I guess, is that whatever is30
proposed is appropriate.  So rather than try and qualify it in terms of a
number of years as being short or medium; what is appropriate in the
context  of  the  number  of  houses  that  we  are  trying  to  achieve  in
Christchurch, by those timeframes, and having regards to the
monitoring under the RPS that is occurring.35

MR UDALE:  And I think in the context of the an ODP being put in place
across all of these areas, most of which I understand are held in
multiple ownership, any extractive industry would need to be integrated
with that wider development by potentially a number of different40
parties, over which anyone seeking an extractive activity might not
have control?

MR BLIGH:  Yes, I guess it would.  There will be limitations obviously on if
someone was seeking to undertake extraction, I would assume that45
naturally it would probably only over land that they had access to, and
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obviously the implications that could have for other land ownership and
maybe any consents that had been lodged or approved, and those
matters would all need to be considered in the context of any such
application.

5
MR UDALE:  Yes, and in a formulation of an ODP for a new neighbourhood

zone – new neighbourhood area?

MR BLIGH:  Yes,  I  guess in terms of that  if  an activity such as this were to
take place that it was not to say, significantly compromise other parts10
of that ODP area that may have been started being developed, or
intended  to  be  developed  were  are  not  going  to  be  significantly
compromised by, say, this activity occurring.

MR UDALE:  Thank you.15

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Bligh, just picking up on that point a bit further, that
would be one approach; I wonder whether another approach would to
actually include a positive dimension to B, perhaps as a new (iii), that
would say in effect, a prerequisite was explicit recognition of quarrying20
occurring, being included in the ODP?

MR BLIGH:  It could be.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Clearly it provides more restriction from your client’s25
point of view, but I suppose the other side of that is that it also
effectively directs peoples’ attention to the importance of dealing with
those wider ODP issues at an earlier stage, doesn’t it?

MR  BLIGH:   Yes,  and  I  think  to  some  extent  it  is  important  the  plan  gives30
direction in terms of those matters, and the consents planner when
faced, with say an application, has some sort of guidance.

JUDGE HASSAN:  And looking at policy 8.1.2.9, as it is now proposed; in
other words the numbering has changed from when Fulton Hogan’s35
submission went in, but looking at point 9, if you just go down there.  I
will wait for that to come up.  It is on page 6 of the latest version – just
tell me when you have got it in front of you anyway.

[1.20 pm]40

MR BLIGH:  I have it in front of me, sir, yes.

JUDGE HASSAN:  So as I read that, it is specifying obligatory requirements
for  an  ODP,  but  that  doesn’t  necessarily  dictate  that  this  has  to  be  an45
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obligatory requirement, in doesn’t in other words stop other things
being identified.

This policy doesn’t anyway, does it?  So not withstanding this policy,
there is no reason why an ODP can’t be explicate about quarrying?5

MR BLIGH:  No, there is no reason why it couldn’t.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Finally, everything else has been covered off I think well
by the questions that have come to and from.  I took from your earlier10
answers, and when Ms Limmer asked you some questions at the
beginning, that you were not the author of the most recent iteration in
Ms Limmer’s submissions.  That is correct, isn’t it?

MR BLIGH:  The wording in those submissions, I guess reflects - - -15

JUDGE HASSAN:  I appreciate your evidence on that, but just to answer my
question, you didn’t author the drafting, didn’t write it?

MR BLIGH:  I have seen very similar wording at expert conferencing.20

JUDGE HASSAN:  No, just answer my question.  I see, so what you are saying
is you are being coy because it is something in caucusing and you are
just a bit careful about what you might disclose at this point.

25
MR BLIGH:  Because I am conscious not everyone is agreed, the experts are

not agreed on specific wording.

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, okay.  I wasn’t trying to trick you, I just wanted
to get clarity on this.  You have certainly advised that you support it.  It30
was actually a preliminary for my next question.  On the matter of
scope; is it your view or not that this policy wording should actually
refer to residential greenfield sites as opposed to broadly greenfield
sites?

35
MR BLIGH:  Whilst I think it would be – I think the wording is appropriate,

that it could apply to either.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes.
40

MR  BLIGH:   I  do  acknowledge  that  the  original  submission  referred  to
Greenfield residential.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes,  well  okay.   Well  I  will  ask  the  question  in  another
way.   Leaving  aside  the  arguments  as  to  scope  for  Ms  Limmer  to45
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address in closing submissions, your professional opinion is that it is
actually better to cover both?

MR BLIGH:  I think it is better that it covers both.
5

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  And if Ms Limmer can’t persuade us that there
is scope within the submission as it is worded, the change you would
make to reflect a scope problem would be to add the word “residential”
before greenfield?

10
MR BLIGH:  Yes.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  All right, well thanks very much, Mr Bligh.
Any questions arising Ms Viskovic?

15
MS VISKOVIC:  No, sir.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  Now, Ms Limmer, you have seen my signal –
you will need to address this in closing.

20
MS LIMMER:  Yes, sir.

JUDGE HASSAN:  There is a live issue here, reading the submission.
Certainly there is reference to a residential context at the beginning of
this submission in regard to Fulton Hogan’s interest, and greenfield25
residential areas specifically in the left hand column of the appendix A.

But I appreciate there are other words in that submission that you may
want to refer to as well, so that is a matter for you.

30
MS LIMMER:  Yes, sir.  My submissions will mainly focus around the

references through urban activity throughout the submission and the
body of it.

JUDGE HASSAN:  I will leave you for closing submissions to address all35
matters of scope.  Any questions arising?

MS LIMMER:  No, sir, thank you.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well, thanks very much Mr Bligh, you may stand down.40

MR BLIGH:  Thank you.

JUDGE HASSAN:  I am sure it will not be your last appearance before us, but
thank you very much for your help on this occasion.45
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.24 pm]

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Jordan, while Mr Bligh is getting his papers organised,
you have got a microphone there.  Mr Jordan I don’t have a witness
statement in front of me, I have only got your original submission.5

MR JORDAN:  Submission of evidence.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Well have we seen that evidence?  I don’t know if I have
seen the evidence.  If we have got an issue there, we may have to take a10
bit of a recess.

DISCUSSION

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just  a  bit  of  a  delay.   I  think  we will  take  a  five  minute15
recess and we will come back at 1.30.  That will give me a chance to
read it.

ADOURNED [1.25 pm]
20

RESUMED [1.30 pm]

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, you just going to be sworn in, Mr Jordan and we
will - - -

25
MR JORDAN:  Okay.
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<CHRISTIAN PAUL JORDAN, sworn [1.30 pm]
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JUDGE HASSAN:  Now, Mr Jordan, your full name is Christian Paul Jordan
and you are a residential landlord and developer based in Christchurch,
you have described in your evidence your experience in regard to these
matters and we have seen you before?

5
MR JORDAN:  Yes, that is correct.

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   Now,  Mr  Jordan,  have  you  been  briefed  on
the Council’s latest version and the fact that it has moved significantly
in - - -10

MR  JORDAN:   I  have  and  I  am  broadly  in  agreement  with  that,  so  yes  it  is
really – I certainly agree with the reduction to 200 square metres that is
excellent and the change in the minimum dimension rule as well.

15
JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes.

MR JORDAN:  I just had the only one – nothing much further to say on that,
but the only one minor suggestion I had, was the on the new wording,
the application demonstrating a permitted residential unit, perhaps that20
could apply to all three zones, that was my only suggestion and it
wasn’t in my evidence but that was just to make fewer discretionary
applications.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Now I got your copy of the originating submission in front25
of  me  and  I  hadn’t  double  checked  it;  is  that  within  the  scope  of  the
originating - - -

MR JORDAN:  It probably may not be within the scope.  I just suggested that
as part of – perhaps it would make it simpler with less need for30
discretionary applications when a section went below the minimum
size, in the other two zones as well.  But whether you consider that or
not, it’s - - -

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, well we will have to consider the issues of scope and35
I think there has been an element of perhaps difference of opinion on
that, different people have expressed so that will be relevant to how we
see that as well.

MR JORDAN:  Yes.40

JUDGE HASSAN:  But is there anything further you want to?

MR JORDAN:  Sir, certainly the way it is at the moment I am quite happy with
how they have made those changes, so I think that solves the problem,45
because it was quite a large problem, of having that minimum section
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size in the medium density, so I am happy with how that final proposal
has been, the one dated 15 June.

Yes, so unless you have questions?
5

JUDGE  HASSAN:   All  right,  no  thank  you  for  that.   Now  there  are  no
questions from the Council and I will just check if there is any
questions from the Panel.

MR JORDAN:  Yes.10

MS DAWSON:  Just  so I  am clear about your further suggestion, whether or
not this is scope, we can leave to one side - - -

MR JORDAN:  Yes.15

MS  DAWSON:   -  -  -  is  that,  so  that  is  the  alternative,  instead  of  having  a
dimension,  it  would  be  to  have  a  plan  that  shows  that  a  permitted
residential unit can be located in it and that it would comply with
everything?20

MR JORDAN:  Then it would comply with – it just solves the problem that if
you have say in the residential suburban, a 15 metre wide section that
almost complies, so you don’t have to go through a discretionary
process, it just makes sense, a little bit simpler and seeing as it is25
already worded there and it could just apply to all three rather - - -

MS DAWSON:  Yes, and that would be consistent with the mechanism that is
in there for – on the lot area, where if you can show that there is either
an existing or a consented or in the process of being built building that30
complies in - - -

MR JORDAN:  Yes.

MS DAWSON:  - - - a minimum area, it doesn’t need to apply either.35

MR  JORDAN:   Yes,  and  I  think  there  is  discretion.   If  it  doesn’t  meet  that
minimum there  is  a  section  of  rules  on  being  a  discretionary,  and  the
Council in the past – very similar situation proposed – sorry, with the
existing plan, and they do grant them quite regularly for, you know40
sections that are narrower or smaller, but I was just suggesting that
there could be an easier mechanism rather than people having to go
through a discretionary process if they provide a plan, then it just
solves that problem.

45
MS DAWSON:  Yes.
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MR JORDAN:  Just making things simpler.

MS DAWSON:  All  right,  thank  you,  thank  you  very  much for  your  help  as
usual.5

MR JORDAN:  Okay.

JUDGE HASSAN:  Mr Udale?
10

MR UDALE:  So this is suggesting essentially a comprehensive application of
subdivision and building at the same time?

MR JORDAN:  No not – just for a vacant lot so - - -
15

MR UDALE:  For a vacant lot?

MR  JORDAN:   -  -  -  just  so  that  a  house  plan  can  be  provided  with  the  –
obviously if you are building on it I don’t think there is a requirement
for minimum dimension, but this is just if you are creating a vacant lot20
that you could provide a plan that shows something could be built if
you can’t meet the minimum dimension, just to make things simpler,
that was the only suggestion that I had in addition to that.

MR UDALE:  Yes.25

JUDGE  HASSAN:   Yes,  Mr  Jordan,  well  given  the  Council’s  change  of
position I don’t have any questions, but I echo Ms Dawson's comment
and thank you very much for once again helping us to consider the
issues.30

MR JORDAN:  Okay, thank you very much.

[1.35 pm]
35

MS DAWSON:  Thank you.

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right.  So I think, Ms Viskovic, is there anything
further for the day that you wanted to raise?

40
MS VISKOVIC:  No, sir.

JUDGE HASSAN:  All right, okay, anyone else?

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.35 pm]45
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JUDGE  HASSAN:    Okay,  all  right,  well  we  will  adjourn  until  closings
tomorrow, thank you.

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 1.35 PM UNTIL
WEDNESDAY, 1 JULY 20155


